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HINDSIGHT COFFEE, LLC; PAUL DAIGLE; )
)
KEITH WOOLFORD; IBERIABANK
)
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)
SERVISFIRST BANK; and FICTITIOUS
)
DEFENDANTS A-N.
)
)
Defendants.
)
)
AAL USA, INC.

Case No.
01-CV-2016-904241.00

AAL USA, INC.’S FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
AAL USA, INC. (“Plaintiff” or “AAL USA”) amends its complaint to add claims
against ServisFirst Bank (“ServisFirst”). In addition, on December 2, 2016, AAL USA
dismissed, without prejudice, its claims in this action against Black Hall Aerospace, Inc.
(“BHA”). This First Amended Complaint is AAL USA’s complaint against Black Hall,
LLC (“Black Hall, LLC”), Corvis Arrow, LLC (“Corvis Arrow”), Cold Harbor
Certifications, Inc. (“Cold Harbor”), Hindsight Coffee, LLC (“Hindsight”), Paul Daigle
(“Daigle”), Keith Woolford (“Woolford”), IberiaBank Corporation, IberiaBank,
ServisFirst, and Fictitious Defendants A-N.
I. INTRODUCTION
This is the story of an attempted heist. It begins with the most American of
stories – a person moving to the United States to study, becoming a naturalized U.S.
citizen, and working to become a successful businessperson. But the Defendants,
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through fraud and breaches of their fiduciary duties, and with a stunning greed and
brazenness, are in the process of destroying all that has been built. Daigle and Woolford,
using various corporate entities, have begun implementing a fraudulent scheme to steal
millions of dollars from AAL USA, to usurp corporate opportunities that are too complex
and valuable to be calculated, and to destroy the goodwill and reputation of AAL USA.
They must be stopped before it is too late.
A.

Oleg Sirbu comes to America and begins to work for AAL Group

In 1999, Oleg Sirbu (“Sirbu”) moved to the United States to study, successfully
completing his bachelor and master’s degrees. Initially, Sirbu worked with the United
States Holocaust Museum. He took a job as government contractor with DynCorp
International in 2007. He became a U.S. citizen in 2008. While at DynCorp, Sirbu’s job
and skills required him to support a U.S. Government program that was considered
classified. Sirbu was permitted access to classified information for his job and was
issued a personnel security clearance. Working in an industry related to the Russianmade Mi17 helicopter, through DynCorp, Sirbu was introduced to AAL Group PLC
(“AAL Group”), which ultimately resulted in Sirbu going to work for AAL Group in
Dubai. AAL Group then began performing on US Government contracts in the Middle
East.
In February 2010, AAL Group created AAL USA as a subsidiary. AAL USA’s
shares were held by TMI Solutions, Ltd. In October 2011, Daigle joined AAL USA as
Vice-President. Later, in 2013, AAL USA hired Woolford as finance manager, and by
2015 Woolford had become the Chief Financial Officer.
AAL USA helped AAL Group with bids and program management, including the
Northrop Grumman CNTPO Contract Logistics Support Task Order 20, SES-I Mi-17
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overhauls, and multiple equipment and materials purchases for AAL Group contracts.
As many of AAL Group’s contracts with the U.S. Government began to run out, in 2014,
TMI Solutions, Ltd. transferred 100% of the shares in AAL USA to Sirbu.
When Sirbu became the owner of AAL USA, it was a small business with fewer
than 20 employees and less than $1 million in revenue. At the same time, the U.S. Air
Force began, more and more, to choose contractor logistics support (“CLS”) over
“organic support.” Sirbu guided and tasked Daigle through the process of having AAL
USA compete for contracts as both subcontractor and prime contractor. Before Daigle
and Woolford’s fraudulent scheme was put in place, Sirbu had grown AAL USA into a
sizeable business with over 400 employees and close to $50 million in yearly revenue.
B.

Daigle and Woolford’s fraudulent scheme

No later than 2015, Daigle and Woolford, at times using corporate entities as
fronts, began to execute a scheme to defraud AAL USA, to siphon off AAL USA’s assets,
to usurp AAL USA’s opportunities, and to destroy AAL USA. The breadth of the fraud
and self-dealing is staggering.
For example, in August 2016, Daigle went to Kabul, Afghanistan, to meet with
program officers on the Aerial Intelligence, Surveillance And Reconnaissance (“SSAISR”) and CLS contracts. This was done through Leidos, which was associated with
Lockheed Martin. Soon after his visit, a Leidos/Lockheed Subcontract Administrator
then sent a letter to AAL USA regarding “Subcontractor Denial of Outside Continental
United States (OCONUS) Base Access.” The letter stated that Army Contracting
Command – Aberdeen Proving Ground had notified Leidos that AAL USA could not
perform OCONUS requirements. The letter included a request that AAL USA provide
Leidos with a plan going forward within the next three business days.
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Daigle presented a plan to Leidos that included a separation of AAL USA from
BHA, a company that (a) Daigle had represented to AAL USA and the public was owned
by AAL USA but (b) Daigle and Woolford had secretly not transferred all BHA shares to
AAL USA and had instead distributed preferred shares to certain AAL USA employees
that Daigle and Woolford hoped to steal from AAL USA. Daigle then presented the plan
to Sirbu, representing that the plan with Leidos required a separation from AAL USA
and telling Sirbu that otherwise the companies would lose all of the work (including SSAISR, CLS, and any future U.S. government work). Daigle and Sirbu discussed the
situation, and Daigle misrepresented the cause of the letter purportedly prohibiting AAL
USA from doing OCONUS work.
On September 29, Daigle presented Sirbu with an Asset Purchase Agreement
(“APA”) and a deadline to decide whether to enter into the agreement of the same day.
The APA involved all of the assets of AAL USA for a purchase price of $501,660.46.
When asked about the price, Daigle told Sirbu that it had been derived by AAL USA’s
accounting firm, which was hard to believe given that AAL USA had millions of dollars
in cash on hand. Under duress, and relying on Daigle’s misrepresentations and
fraudulent suppressions (and without knowledge that Daigle and Woolford and their
companies had already been draining funds from AAL USA), Sirbu signed that
agreement. Soon after, Sirbu began discovering Daigle’s and Woolford’s plan. Sirbu
refused to sign a number of other documents -- including non-compete agreements and
various assignments of contracts, leases, and the like -- necessary to close the
transaction.
Nevertheless, Daigle and Woolford, and their companies, have essentially
executed a takeover of AAL USA, transferring away its resources, attempting to convince
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its employees to leave AAL USA and come to work at BHA, and attempting to usurp AAL
USA’s relationships and contracts with the U.S. Army and other governmental entities.
Daigle and Woolford have also more nakedly misused AAL USA’s assets. The
following are but examples:


In 2015, unbeknownst to Sirbu and/or anyone else at AAL USA, Daigle
and Woolford used AAL USA’s money to finance the sale of a house owned
by Paul and Melissa Daigle to Woolford. The Daigles sold the house
located at 8524 Rolling Oaks Drive SE, Owens Cross Roads, Alabama (the
“2015 House”) to Woolford, using a loan they themselves authorized from
AAL, USA and then hid. See Settlement Statement, Note, and Mortgage
attached as Ex. 1. This loan was ultra vires and a direct breach of Daigle’s
and Woolford’s fiduciary duties to AAL USA.



In November 2015 and January 2016, the Defendants created Dagda
Aerospace, LLC (“Dagda”), a sham company formed for the purpose of
misappropriating resources from AAL USA and interfering with AAL USA
contracts, Cold Harbor and Corvis Arrow, whose sole member is Cold
Harbor. Corvis Arrow owns a Cessna 525 FAA Registration Number
N294CW (the “Jet”). The Jet was purchased that same month and an
Aircraft Bill of Sale was filed with the FAA along with a registration
certificate signed by Woolford. The Jet appears to have been purchased
with $1 million in AAL USA’s cash. The original aircraft purchase
agreement was in AAL USA’s name, and Woolford and Daigle assigned
control of the aircraft to Corvis Arrow (a company owned and controlled
by Daigle and Woolford). Amazingly, the transfer was signed by Woolford.
See Assignment attached as Ex. 2. The Jet was used by Daigle and
Woolford for their private trips and vacations as well as their own personal
business interests, and AAL USA covered all the cost associated with the
operations, maintenance, and insurance of the Jet.



Not content to use AAL USA’s money for houses and a jet, the Defendants
awarded themselves bonuses far in excess of those allowable. As just one
example, Daigle in 2015 took a $600,000 bonus that was roughly 24 times
the amount he had been authorized to take.



In September 2016, the Defendants again stole AAL USA’s money to buy a
house for themselves, this time a $470,000 house for Woolford (the “2016
House”). Daigle and Woolford used AAL USA’s funds and had official
checks issued to pay cash for the 2016 House from BB&T and ServisFirst
Bank. See BB&T and ServisFirst Bank checks attached as Exs. 3 & 4. This
action was again ultra vires and a direct breach of Daigle’s and Woolford’s
fiduciary duties to AAL USA.
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Daigle and Woolford have continued to use and abuse their company
credit card accounts, despite acknowledging that they do not work for AAL
USA any longer.



The Defendants issued a check for $35,687.00 to Black Hall, LLC (this is a
different entity from BHA). See BHL Check attached as Ex. 5. Daigle is the
apparent sole member and registered agent for Black Hall, LLC.



The Defendants issued a $1,000 check to Hindsight Coffee without any
authorization or justification, a company created and owned by Daigle and
Woolford. See Hindsight Check attached as Ex. 6. AAL-USA corporate
AMEX cards purchased coffee beans and other supplies for Hindsight.



Without any authorization whatsoever, the Defendants wrote a $2 million
check to BHA on September 30, 2016. See September 30 Check attached
as Ex. 7. The Defendants wrote another $1,263,339.03 check to BHA just
days later, on October 3, 2016. See October 3 Check attached as Ex. 8. An
additional $1,137,000 was taken on October 7. None of these withdrawals
were authorized – Daigle and Woolford just took $3.2 million out of AAL
USA’s accounts. Much of this was also accomplished through hidden
bank accounts Daigle and Woolford had created but hid from Sirbu.

The full extent of Daigle and Woolford’s fraud, self-dealing, and breaches of
fiduciary duty are still being discovered. But unless they are stopped, Daigle and
Woolford have shown that they intend to complete their scheme to destroy AAL USA’s
reputation and goodwill, usurp AAL USA’s contractual relationships and opportunities,
and rob AAL USA blind.
Daigle and Woolford have also breached their Non-Disclosure and Non-Compete
Agreements with AAL USA. (See Agreements attached as Exs. 9 & 10.) They have done
so by, for example, operating BHA as a competitor with AAL USA despite the fact that
BHA is a wholly-owned subsidiary of AAL USA. Just this week, AAL USA learned that
the Defendants had contacted AAL USA’s vendor LTC, which was in the process of
manufacturing composite armor for use in Iraqi helicopters that were used in fighting
ISIS, and convinced LTC to halt production of “VIP surrogate kits” – the armor at issue.
This prevents AAL USA from meeting its contractual obligations. More to the point, this
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interference and violation of their agreements by Daigle and Woolford puts soldiers’
lives and lives around the world at risk.
II. PARTIES
1.

AAL USA is a Delaware corporation.

2.

Black Hall, LLC is an Alabama limited liability company. Daigle is the

registered agent for Black Hall, LLC and listed as its organizer.
3.

Corvis Arrow is a Delaware limited liability company. Its managers are

Woolford and Daigle.
4.

Cold Harbor Certifications, Inc. is a New Hampshire corporation. It is the

sole member of Corvis Arrow. Woolford and Daigle are its sole shareholders.
5.

Hindsight Coffee is an Alabama limited liability company. Woolford is its

registered agent and Daigle and Woolford are owners of the company.
6.

Daigle is an Alabama resident citizen.

7.

Woolford is an Alabama resident citizen.

8.

IberiaBank Corporation, a nominal defendant, is a Louisiana corporation.

9.

IberiaBank, a nominal defendant, is a Louisiana corporation.

10.

ServisFirst is a domestic corporation with its principal place of business in

Birmingham, Alabama.
11.

Fictitious Defendants A-F, whether singular or plural, whose true names

are otherwise unknown but will be supplied by amendment when ascertained, acted as
agents, servants, or employees of the Daigle, Woolford, and/or corporate entities
controlled by Daigle and Woolford, and their actions combined to cause the injuries and
damages described in the Complaint.
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12.

Fictitious Defendants G-N, whether singular or plural, through their

negligence, wantonness, or other wrongful conduct, contributed to the cause of AAL
USA’s injuries, and their actions combined to cause the injuries and damages described
in the Complaint.
III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
13.

Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to ALA. CODE § 12-11-30, and

venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Ala. Code §§ 6-3-2, 6-3-6, 6-3-7.
IV. FACTS
14.

Sirbu is the sole director and CEO of AAL USA, and the majority (and

perhaps sole) shareholder of AAL USA. Sirbu is Chairman of the Board of AAL USA.
15.

Daigle is or was a 20% shareholder of AAL USA and a purported

shareholder of BHA. Daigle was previously CEO and director of AAL USA.
16.

Woolford is a purported shareholder of BHA. Woolford, who was recruited

by Daigle in 2012, was previously AAL USA’s CFO and corporate secretary.
17.

On February 3, 2011, AAL Group created AAL USA as a subsidiary. AAL

USA was formed to support AAL Group’s existing contracts involving aviation services
with the U.S. government and its prime contractors.
18.

In August 2011, Sirbu hired Daigle to join AAL USA and eventually

promoted him to vice president and then CEO. Daigle signed a Non-Disclosure and
Non-Compete Agreement prohibiting him from disclosing any of AAL USA’s
Confidential Information, working for competitors, converting clients or vendors of AAL
USA, and competing with AAL USA, among other things.
19.

Both Daigle and Woolford signed Non-Disclosure and Non-Compete

Agreements. See Exs. 9 & 10. In those agreements, Daigle and Woolford agreed to not:
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(1) disclose any of AAL USA’s secret or confidential information, (2) seek or accept
employment with competitors of AAL USA or its affiliates, (3) carry out any competitive
acts with AAL USA or its affiliates, (4) contact or otherwise convert the clientele and
suppliers of AAL USA or its affiliates, and/or (5) start or participate in a business that
competes with AAL USA or its affiliates. See id. at ¶¶ 1-2.
20.

The Non-Disclosure and Non-Compete Agreements provide specifically for

AAL USA to recover its court costs, attorneys’ fees, and other damages, and to seek
injunctive relief:
In case of violation of any of the hereinabove undertakings and warranties,
I shall bear legal and financial responsibility for such violations and shall
compensate for actual damage, loss profit and future loss which the
Company or its affiliates may incur due to such violations. In case of
dispute resolution, the Company has a right to recover all costs and
expenses (including, court costs, fees, attorneys' fees). The Company may
in its sole discretion seek injunctive relief or specific performance to the
extent feasible, as to estop unlawful conduct of employee.
See id. at ¶ 3.
21.

In early 2014, Oleg Sirbu became the 100% shareholder of AAL USA.

22.

In late 2014, AAL USA bid for and was eventually awarded its first

Contractor Logistics Support (“CLS”) contract under a prime contract now controlled by
Leidos Holdings, Inc. (“Leidos”).
23.

On or about June 19, 2015, BHA was incorporated in Delaware by AAL

USA to serve as AAL USA’s FAA Part 145 aircraft repair facility. AAL USA invested
tremendous resources for BHA to obtain the FAA Part 145 license (“Part 145”), for the
purpose of increasing AAL USA’s conventional commercial account business.
24.

Daigle promised and represented to AAL USA that after receiving the Part

145, BHA’s shares would be transferred to AAL USA. AAL USA also paid for the creation
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of the manuals and employees to create the manuals necessary to carry out any Part 145
business.
25.

Sirbu, on at least two occasions, asked Daigle about the status of the

transfer of the BHA shares to AAL USA, and Daigle responded that he had talked with
legal counsel for AAL USA and that the transfer was being finalized. All parties
recognized that BHA was wholly owned by AAL USA. Indeed, in a January 18, 2016
email, Daigle wrote:
While “Black Hall Aerospace” is a wholly owned subsidiary of
AAL USA, we are taking steps with the Federal Aviation Administration
to change the name on the document to “AAL USA” during our next
quality audit. Once that action is complete, I will send you guys an updated
version of this certificate. The name on the license does not impact any of
our current work, but it will be extremely advantageous for us here in HSV
once it is changed to AAL USA for marketing purposes (so we don’t have to
keep explaining things to Customers…
See January 18 email attached as Ex. 11 (emphasis added).
26.

BHA even represented to the public that it was a subsidiary of AAL USA,

posting the following on its Facebook, Twitter, and/or LinkedIn accounts on January,
February, March and April 2016:

See January 22, 2016 tweet attached as Ex. 12; see also January 31, 2016, and March 1,
2016 tweets attached as Exs. 13 & 14.
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27.

Similarly, BHA posted again on Facebook on March 1, telling the world

that AAL USA was its parent company:

See March 1, 2016 post attached as Ex. 15.
28.

BHA posted again on Facebook on April 19, again representing that AAL

USA was its parent company and praising the company:
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See April 19, 2016 Facebook post attached as Ex. 16; see also January 9, January 22,
January 31, February 3, February 11, February 21, and February 25, 2016 Facebook
posts attached as Exs. 17 - 23.
29.
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See LinkedIn posts attached as Exs. 24-26.
30.

In sum, and as recognized by the parties themselves, BHA is and was a

wholly owned subsidiary of AAL USA.
31.

Around the time that BHA received its FAA Part 145 aircraft repair license

on November 4, 2015, BHA’s officers put a plan (the “Takeover Scheme”) in effect for
the purpose of sabotaging AAL USA’s contracts and interfering with AAL USA’s business
relationships so that AAL USA’s contracts could be taken over, and so Sirbu would be
squeezed out of the business.
32.

The Takeover Scheme consisted of several parts. First, Daigle and

Woolford created multiple entities in 2015 and 2016 without disclosure to AAL USA for
the purpose of misappropriating resources from AAL USA, self-dealing and interfering
with AAL USA’s business relationships. Second, Daigle and those under his control
sabotaged AAL USA’s ability to perform the CLS and SS-AIRS contracts (or appeared
to) in order to create the appearance of the sudden emergency of having to move these
contracts and key AAL USA employees to BHA. BHA was controlled by Daigle even
though Daigle was the acting CEO of AAL USA, and had represented that the shares of
BHA had all been transferred to AAL USA.
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33.

On or about November 17, 2015, Daigle and Woolford formed Dagda

Aerospace, LLC (“Dagda”) without disclosure to AAL USA. Dagda is a sham company
formed for the purpose of misappropriating resources from AAL USA and interfering
with AAL USA contracts.
34.

Cold Harbor, which is wholly owned by BHA’s officers, created Corvis

Arrow in January 2016, as a wholly owned subsidiary formed by Daigle and Woolford.
This company bought a Cessna 525 airplane, registered number N294CW, without
disclosure to the Directors of AAL USA. Daigle and Woolford used AAL USA funds to
purchase the airplane, which is now used exclusively by BHA. Daigle lied to Sirbu
regarding the origin of the airplane—when asked by Sirbu why the plane was at AAL
USA’s hangar, Daigle represented the plane belonged to a customer who was using AAL
USA for modification work. Daigle represented that the customer would allow AAL USA
to use the plane while being modified as long as it would pay for the use. AAL USA even
paid for pilot school costs for AAL USA employee and Daigle’s sister-in-law to be trained
on the aircraft type, an expense of $18,980.
35.

Daigle and Woolford suppressed that, in fact, payments were being made

to a company that they owned: Corvis Arrow. Daigle and Woolford suppressed that they
owned the airplane through Corvis Arrow. So, in fact, there was no customer airplane on
which AAL USA was to perform work—but rather, an airplane owned by entities created
by Daigle and Woolford—and which they had AAL USA pay money to their wholly
owned entity by misrepresentations. See Assignment, Ex. 2. This fraud by BHA’s officers
is further evidenced by the fact that the original purchase agreement was, unbeknownst
to AAL USA, in the name of AAL USA and subsequently changed.
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36.

As late as September 2016, Daigle and Woolford continued to embezzle

resources from AAL USA for their own personal uses. Woolford, for example, used AAL
USA funds to purchase a new house for himself. Servisfirst allowed Woolford to obtain
an official check for $180,000, see September 2, 2016 check attached as Ex. 4, made out
to the closing attorney for the property.
37.

Using the ServisFirst check and other funds obtained from AAL USA

accounts, Woolford paid cash for a $470,000 house. See Settlement Statement attached
as Ex. 1. No one at ServisFirst contacted anyone at AAL USA to inquire about this use of
company funds.
38.

On or about January 2016, in consideration for what he thought to be

Daigle’s loyal service and AAL USA’s financial performance (as represented by Daigle
and Woolford), Sirbu awarded 20% of AAL USA’s shares to Daigle. This transfer was
made without knowledge of Daigle’s unfaithful and fraudulent activities. At that time,
Sirbu was unaware of Daigle and Woolford’s surreptitious and malicious conduct.
39.

On or about March 29, 2016, Lockheed (now Leidos) again sponsored AAL

USA for a security clearance with the Defense Security Service so that AAL USA could
perform classified work.
40.

In 2016, AAL USA was awarded a subcontract with prime contractor

Lockheed Martin (now Leidos), through the Army Contracting Command--Aberdeen
Proving Ground contract facility with respect to Army Sensor Systems--Aerial
Intelligence, Surveillance And Reconnaissance (“SS-AISR”). Also in 2016, AAL USA was
awarded a Worldwide Training Support Services Contract (“WTSS”) through the Army
Contracting Command--Redstone Arsenal.
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41.

On or about September 23, Leidos sent a letter to AAL USA stating that

the Army Contracting Command--Aberdeen Proving Ground (“Command”) notified
Leidos that AAL USA must withdraw its personnel and property from the CENTCOM
OCONUS operation. The letter included a request that AAL USA provide Leidos with a
plan within the next three days. Daigle, who received the letter, waited two days to send
the letter by email to Sirbu.
42.

In furtherance of the Takeover Scheme, Daigle again lied, misrepresenting

to Sirbu that the reason why AAL USA was being commanded to stop working on-base
was because Sirbu, as CEO of AAL Group, was influenced by the AAL Group
shareholder.
43.

On September 29, with only days to provide a plan to Leidos, Daigle

deceived AAL USA into a purported transaction which, if completed, would have
transferred all assets to Black Hall Aerospace through an Asset Sale and Purchase
Agreement (the “Fraudulent Agreement”) so that Black Hall Aerospace could perform
the CLS and SS-AISR contracts with Leidos as a separate legal entity. Daigle insisted
that Black Hall Aerospace had to salvage existing contracts and pending awards from
Leidos. Although Daigle misrepresented that Leidos would do no further work with
AAL USA or Sirbu, AAL USA continues to do work for Leidos to this day.
44.

Daigle represented that if the assets of AAL USA were transferred to Black

Hall Aerospace, AAL USA would remain its owner and Sirbu would remain an owner
and in control of 80% of Black Hall Aerospace by virtue of his ownership of AAL USA.
45.

The Fraudulent Agreement provided that all assets of AAL USA would be

transferred to Black Hall Aerospace for a purchase price of $501,660.46, including all
AAL USA contracts worth millions of dollars, bank accounts containing millions of
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dollars, receivables of millions of dollars and a gross profit totaling 7.2 million dollars as
of August 2016 and no liabilities.1
46.

Sirbu, after being induced by Daigle’s lies, signed the Fraudulent

Agreement at 2:00 AM in the morning purportedly transferring the assets to a wholly
owned subsidiary of AAL USA because Sirbu believed it was necessary to save the
company, contracts and employees’ livelihoods and based on the misrepresentations of
Daigle.
47.

During the drafting of the Fraudulent Agreement and the execution of the

Takeover Scheme, Daigle was still an officer and Director of AAL USA and Woolford was
still an officer of AAL USA. Both owed, at all times, fiduciary duties to AAL USA.
48.

After Sirbu signed the Fraudulent Agreement on September 29, the

Takeover Scheme started to unravel. BHA ceased communication with Sirbu and AAL
USA. AAL USA’s lawyer, who drafted the Fraudulent Agreement and associated
documents, withdrew from representation.
49.

Realizing the Fraudulent Agreement was a massive fraudulent scheme,

Sirbu refused to proceed with the closing or to sign various Assignment and Assumption
Agreements and a Novation Agreement upon realizing the entire transaction was based
upon fraud.
50.

Even though the entire Fraudulent transaction had not concluded, Daigle

and Woolford withdrew at least $3.2 million in cash from AAL USA’s accounts and
took control of AAL USA’s Huntsville facility and hangar, even though AAL USA did not
execute an assignment of its lease to BHA.

1

Daigle represented that the sales price was determined by the accounting firm for AAL USA.
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51.

Further, BHA's officers took control of AAL USA’s domain name and

server containing emails, contracts, proposals, technical data, payroll records, trade
secrets, HR records and tax records, which allowed them (now working for a
competitor) to view AAL USA’s privileged emails between its lawyers as well as emails
and confidential documents between AAL USA and its customers.
52.

Unbelievably, on September 30, Laura Moran, who was not even an

employee of AAL USA at that time, sent a letter to AAL USA’s suppliers misrepresenting
to them that the APA was closing at the end of the week and instructing them to transfer
accounts to BHA. See September 30 letter attached as Ex. 27.
53.

Daigle and Woolford also continue to violate their Non-Disclosure and

Non-Compete Agreements with AAL USA. Specifically, they have contacted and
interfered with AAL USA’s suppliers and customers and are operating BHA as a
competitor, despite the fact that it is a wholly-owned subsidiary of AAL USA.
V. CAUSES OF ACTION
COUNT ONE
FRAUD AND FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION
54.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

55.

Daigle and Woolford represented to AAL USA that 100% of BHA’s shares

were owned by AAL USA and had been transferred to AAL USA. Specifically, Daigle told
Sirbu on more than one occasion before and after receipt of the Part 145 certification
that all of BHA’s shares would be transferred to AAL USA and further confirmed he had
the lawyers for AAL USA complete the transfer to AAL USA. Daigle told Sirbu that Sirbu
would remain the 80% owner of BHA (because BHA was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
AAL USA and Sirbu owned 80% of AAL USA).
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56.

Daigle and Woolford had no intention of transferring 100% of BHA’s

shares to AAL USA and/or of becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of AAL USA as
previously represented and agreed.
57.

Daigle and Woolford intentionally allowed AAL USA to incur and pay

expenses for BHA, knowing that AAL USA would not do so absent BHA being a whollyowned subsidiary – and would certainly not do so if BHA was a competitor.
58.

Daigle and Woolford misrepresented to AAL USA on or about September

25 that the reason why AAL USA lost its ability to work on the CENTCOM OCONUS
operation was because of Sirbu.
59.

Daigle misrepresented to Sirbu on September 29 that the Leidos work had

to be in BHA, separate from AAL USA in order to salvage the CLS and SS-AISR
contracts.
60.

Daigle misrepresented to AAL USA that Leidos would do no further work

with AAL USA or AAL Group, which has proven to be false as Leidos has reached out to
Sirbu to discuss future work and AAL USA continued to do work for Leidos throughout
October and November of 2016.
61.

Daigle misrepresented to Sirbu that the origin of the Jet, which Daigle and

Woolford bought using AAL USA and transferred to their own sham company, belonged
to a contractor customer that hired AAL USA for modification work.

Daigle

misrepresented that the customer would allow AAL USA to use the plane while being
modified as long as it would pay for the use. Daigle and Woolford also suppressed that
payments were being made to a company that they owned (Corvis Arrow), not a
customer. Daigle suppressed that he owned the airplane through Corvis Arrow. Based
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on these misrepresentations, AAL USA paid hundreds of thousands of dollars to Corvis
Arrow, a company owned by Daigle and Woolford.
62.

Daigle and Woolford concealed that they were “borrowing” money from

AAL USA, knowing Sirbu would not approve company loans to employees.
63.

Daigle and Woolford concealed that they were paying themselves

significant bonuses that were much higher than what was approved by Mr. Sirbu.
64.

Daigle and Woolford concealed the fact that they misappropriated funds

from AAL USA to buy houses.
65.

AAL USA relied on Daigle and Woolford’s representations and

suppressions to its detriment.
66.

AAL USA has suffered damages as a result of Daigle and Woolford’s

misrepresentations.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle and Woolford, including an award for compensatory damages, punitive damages, interest, costs, and all
other relief available under Alabama law.
COUNT TWO
FRAUDULENT SUPPRESSION
67.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

68.

Under Alabama law, when affirmative representations are made, the

speaker undertakes a duty not to suppress or conceal material facts necessary to
properly qualify the facts already stated.
69.

Daigle and Woolford (while they were still officers of AAL USA) attempted

to purchase AAL USA for an amount they represented was calculated by AAL USA’s
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accounting firm. Daigle and Woolford also suppressed the disclosure of other
substantial and significant information including but not limited to:
a. the fact that they had no intention of transferring BHA’s shares to AAL
USA as previously agreed;
b. the fact that they had given preferred BHA stock to AAL USA employees in
2015, which also purportedly prevented BHA from transferring 100% of its
stock to AAL-USA;
c. the fact that a separate entity from AAL USA was not necessary to be
awarded the Part 145 license;
d. the fact that a separate legal entity from AAL USA was not necessary to
perform the subcontracts with Leidos;
e. the fact that Daigle, Woolford, M. Daigle, and their corporate entities
misappropriated AAL USA’s assets;
f. the fact that the Defendants “borrowed” money from AAL USA without
AAL USA’s consent;
g. the fact that the Defendants used AAL USA funds to purchase a jet;
h. the fact that the Defendants paid themselves excessive bonuses;
i. the fact that the Defendants were competing against AAL USA while still
employed by it;
j. accurate financial information about AAL USA’s earnings, profits, and
finances as a whole;
k. the fact that BHA officers had depleted and stolen funds from AAL USA
which artificially depressed or reduced the value of AAL USA;
l. the fact that AAL USA had multiple bank accounts unknown to Sirbu; and
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70.

The Defendants’ knowing concealment of information from AAL USA, in

an effort to undervalue AAL USA and to effect a “squeeze out” of Sirbu’s interest in both
AAL USA and BHA, constitutes fraudulent suppression of material facts, which has
caused injury to AAL USA.
71.

Woolford and Daigle also suppressed and concealed their self-dealing and

breaches of fiduciary duty by diverting business and assets to entities owned and/or
controlled by them.
72.

AAL USA has suffered damages as a result of BHA’s fraudulent

suppression.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle and Woolford, including an award for compensatory damages, punitive damages, interest, costs, and all
other relief available under Alabama law.
COUNT THREE
CONVERSION
73.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

74.

Through their actions described herein, Daigle, Woolford, Black Hall,

Corvis Arrow, Cold Harbor Hindsight, and ServisFirst have converted, misappropriated,
and/or otherwise stolen AAL USA’s assets.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle, Woolford, Black
Hall, Corvis Arrow, Cold Harbor Hindsight, and ServisFirst, including an award for
compensatory damages, punitive damages, interest, costs, and all other relief available
under Alabama law.
COUNT FOUR
BREACH OF CONTRACT
75.
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76.

AAL USA had valid contracts with Daigle, Woolford, and ServisFirst.

77.

Through their actions described herein, Daigle, Woolford, and ServisFirst

breached their contracts with AAL USA.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle, Woolford, and
ServisFirst including an award for compensatory damages, interest, costs, and all other
relief available under Alabama law.
COUNT FIVE
VIOLATION OF COMPUTER FRAUD AND ABUSE ACT (18 U.S.C. § 1030)
78.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

79.

AAL USA is the owner of various processing devices and/or data storage

devices which are located at the facility out of which BHA is doing business. Those
devices are used in interstate and foreign commerce and, therefore, meet the definition
of “protected computers” as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1030(e)(2)(B).
80.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators have intentionally accessed

AAL USA’s computers, without authorization or in excess of authorized access, and
obtained, inter alia, information from those protected computers. Their conduct
constitutes computer fraud and abuse in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 1030(a)(2)(C).
81.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators knowingly and in furtherance

of the Takeover Scheme, have accessed AAL USA’s protected computers without
authorization (or in excess of authorized access). Through such access, they furthered
the Takeover Scheme and obtained confidential business information and trade secrets
belonging to AAL USA. The value of the information and trade secrets obtained by
Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators exceed $5,000. Their conduct constitutes
computer fraud and abuse in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 1030(a)(4).

28639019 v2

23

DOCUMENT 87

82.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators intentionally accessed AAL

USA’s protected computers without authorization and, as a result of such conduct,
caused damage and loss to AAL USA as described herein. Their conduct constitutes
computer fraud and abuse in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 1030(5)(C).
83.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators actions as described herein

have impaired AAL USA’s access to critical data, systems, and information necessary for
AAL USA to perform its work.
84.

AAL USA’s damages exceed at least $5,000 in value.

WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle, Woolford, and their
co-conspirators including an award for damages, equitable relief, costs, and all other
relief available under 18 U.S.C. § 1030 and related federal law.
COUNT SIX
VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. § 1832 (DEFEND TRADE SECRETS ACT)
85.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

86.

In the course of conducting its business, AAL USA generated and

maintained (and continues to generate and maintain) a variety of financial, business,
scientific, technical, economic and engineering information, including but not limited to
contracts, purchase orders, financial statements, communications with customers and
governmental entities, and specifications and plans for customers. AAL USA is the
lawful owner of the foregoing information.
87.

AAL USA took (and takes) reasonable measures to keep such information

secret, including password protecting its computers, limiting access to its facility, having
employees sign confidentiality agreements, and the like. Further, the aforementioned
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information derives independent economic value from not being generally known to the
public or to AAL USA’s competitors.
88.

AAL USA’s trade secrets relate to products and services that are used in or

intended to be used in interstate or foreign commerce.
89.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators, using the Takeover Scheme,

improperly acquired and misappropriated AAL USA’s trade secrets, knowing that AAL
USA would never have provided those trade secrets to them if AAL USA had known it
was their real intent to misuse the trade secrets to compete with AAL USA.
90.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators conduct described herein

constitutes misappropriation of trade secrets in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1832.
91.

Further, Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators continue to

misappropriate AAL USA’s trade secrets by improperly accessing and reviewing AAL
USA’s emails and communications with customers.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle, Woolford, and their
co-conspirators including an award for damages, equitable relief, exemplary damages,
attorneys’ fees, costs, and all other relief available under 18 U.S.C. § 1836 and related
federal law.
COUNT SEVEN
VIOLATION OF ALA. CODE § 8-27-1 ET SEQ.
(ALABAMA TRADE SECRETS ACT)
92.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

93.

AAL USA is the rightful owner of information (described in further detail

above and herein) which constitutes trade secrets under ALA. CODE § 8-27-2(1).
94.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators have obtained such trade

secrets through improper means, including but not limited to theft, misrepresentation,

28639019 v2

25

DOCUMENT 87

and other inappropriate means, and continues to obtain AAL USA’s trade secrets by
improperly reading and reviewing AAL USA’s email communications.
95.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators use of AAL USA’s trade secrets

which Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators discovered (and continue to discover)
by improper means renders Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators liable for trade
secret misappropriation in accordance with ALA. CODE § 8-27-3.
96.

Daigle's, Woolford's, and their co-conspirators' misappropriation of AAL

USA’s trade secrets was willful and malicious.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle, Woolford, and their
co-conspirators, including an award for injunctive and other equitable relief, recovery of
profits, AAL USA’s actual damages, exemplary damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees,
costs, and all other relief available under Alabama law.
COUNT EIGHT
ACCOUNTING
97.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

98.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators are currently in possession of

assets in excess of $3.2 million in cash, millions of dollars worth of contracts, and a
myriad of other physical assets rightfully belonging to AAL USA.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA hereby demands an accounting of these monies and
other assets, as well as any other assets transferred to Daigle, Woolford, and their coconspirators and/or their accounts from August 2016 to present. Further, AAL USA
demands that these assets be held in a constructive trust so as to insure AAL USA is not
deprived of same.
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COUNT NINE
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
99.

AAL USA incorporates all of its prior allegations as though fully set forth

herein.
100.

AAL USA, Daigle, and Woolford have a valid contract for the transfer of all

BHA shares to AAL USA.
101.

AAL USA has performed all of its obligations and is not in breach.

102.

Daigle and Woolford are in breach by not transferring the shares to AAL

103.

AAL USA is entitled to specific performance of Daigle and Woolford,

USA.

including and without limitation, having Daigle and Woolford transfer all of the BHA
shares and FAA Part 145 license to AAL USA.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle and Woolford
requiring them to fulfill their contractual obligations, including and without limitation,
having BHA transfer all of its shares and FAA Part 145 license to AAL USA.
COUNT TEN
CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST
104.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

105.

Daigle and Woolford, acting individually, and in their capacities as officers

and/or directors of AAL USA, in connection with their formation of other entities that
will compete directly with AAL USA and in connection with their personal unjust
enrichment, illegally utilized AAL USA’s confidential and proprietary information, as
well as AAL USA’s employees and financial resources, without the authorization or
consent of AAL USA.
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106.

AAL USA is thus entitled to the creation and imposition of a constructive

trust over the business operations, assets, and revenues of BHA and all other entities
formed by Daigle and Woolford to compete and interfere with AAL USA. Further, AAL
USA is entitled to the creation and imposition of a constructive trust over the personal
assets of Daigle and Woolford that were acquired using AAL USA resources including
but not limited to cars, airplanes, bank accounts, and more specifically, their personal
residences that were paid for using misappropriated AAL USA funds.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle, Woolford, and all
other defendants imposing a constructive trust on all of the afore-mentioned items.
COUNT ELEVEN
BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES
107.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

108.

As officers of AAL USA, Daigle and Woolford owed AAL USA fiduciary

duties.2
109.

By their actions as described herein, Daigle and Woolford have breached

their fiduciary duties to AAL USA by, among other things, usurping AAL USA's
corporate opportunities.
110.

AAL USA has been, is currently being, and will continue to be damaged as

the proximate result of the actions of Daigle and Woolford. For example, Daigle’s and
Woolford’s conduct allowed BHA to have unauthorized access to all of AAL USA’s
information, which in itself caused irreparable harm and damage to AAL USA. Both

2

Daigle also assumed these duties pursuant to the Power of Attorney for AAL USA, Inc. (See Power of
Attorney attached as Ex. 28, ¶ 7.) (“The Attorney shall serve as a fiduciary of the Company, and shall always act
diligently and in good faith and in the best interest of the Company.”). The circumstances of the POA are being
investigated and it is believed to have been unauthorized.
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Daigle and Woolford failed to act prudently and to allow AAL USA to be in a position to
carry on business; instead, both intentionally put AAL USA’s interests into jeopardy.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle and Woolford,
including an award for compensatory damages, punitive damages, interest, costs, and all
other relief available under Alabama law.
COUNT TWELVE
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE
111.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

112.

AAL USA had protectable business and contractual relationships with

Leidos, Lockheed Martin, the U.S. Government, and other customers.
113.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators know of these relationships.

114.

Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators were strangers to the

relationships.
115.

Through their actions described herein, Daigle, Woolford, and their co-

conspirators intentionally interfered with AAL USA’s relationships, resulting in damage
to AAL USA.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle, Woolford, and their
co-conspirators, including an award for compensatory damages, punitive damages,
interest, costs, and all other relief available under Alabama law.
COUNT THIRTEEN
CONSPIRACY
116.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

117.

The Defendants conspired among themselves and others to commit the

wrongful acts pleaded in this Complaint.
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WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against the Defendants, including
an award for compensatory damages, punitive damages, interest, costs, and all other
relief available under Alabama law.
COUNT FOURTEEN
UNJUST ENRICHMENT
118.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

119.

AAL USA conferred a benefit on Daigle, Woolford, and their co-

conspirators by hiring and paying the Defendants.
120.

By their actions described in the Complaint, Daigle, Woolford, and their

co-conspirators have been unjustly enriched at AAL USA’s expense and have retained
money that should be returned to AAL USA.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle, Woolford, and their
co-conspirators, including an award for damages, interest, costs, and all other relief
available under Alabama law.
COUNT FIFTEEN
FAITHLESS SERVANT DOCTRINE
121.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

122.

Under Alabama law, “[t]he faithless-servant doctrine precludes an

employee from receiving compensation for conduct that is disloyal to the employer or in
violation of the employee's employment contract.” Edwards v. Allied Home Mortg.
Capital Corp., 962 So. 2d 194, 209 (Ala. 2007).
123.

Daigle and Woolford, through their acts described herein, were unfaithful

to AAL USA during the time that they were still employed by AAL USA
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124.

Accordingly, AAL USA is entitled to repayment of all compensation

provided to Daigle and Woolford during the time after the period of the Daigle’s
Woolford’s malfeasance.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against Daigle and Woolford for all
compensation paid to them, along with interest, costs, and all other relief available
under Alabama law.
COUNT SIXTEEN
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
125.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

126.

AAL USA seeks a temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction, and

permanent injunction against Daigle, Woolford, and their co-conspirators, (1)
prohibiting them, and anyone working in concert with them, from violating their NonDisclosure and Non-Compete Agreements, (2) prohibiting Daigle, Woolford, and their
co-conspirators from using AAL USA's confidential information.
127.

Absent an injunction, AAL USA will suffer immediate and irreparable

harm for which it lacks an adequate remedy at law.
128.

Indeed, AAL USA has just this week learned that Daigle, Woolford, and

their co-conspirators have contacted at least one vendor working for AAL USA in an
attempt to force the vendor to stop the production of composite armor to be used in
helicopters in Iraq for protection for soldiers fighting ISIS and other insurgents. This is
in direct violation of Daigle and Woolford’s Non-Disclosure and Non-Compete
Agreements, see Exs. 9 & 10, and it endangers soldiers in Iraq fighting ISIS (and indeed
the world). Daigle and Woolford, and those working for them, are acting in utter
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disregard of their contractual obligations to avoid competing with AAL USA, to avoid
contacting AAL USA clients and vendors, and other provisions. See id.
129.

The threat of injury to AAL USA outweighs any possible harm to the

Defendants.
130.

AAL USA has a substantial likelihood of success on the merits of this

cause, and the entry of a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction will not
conflict with the public interests.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against the Defendants in the form
of a temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction, and permanent injunction,
along with costs, and all other relief available under Alabama law.
COUNT SEVENTEEN
NEGLIGENCE AND/OR WANTONNESS
131.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

132.

ServisFirst had a duty to act with reasonable or ordinary care towards AAL

133.

Through its actions described herein, ServisFirst acted negligently and/or

USA.

wantonly, and those actions were the proximate cause of damages to AAL USA.
WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against ServisFirst, including an
award for damages, interest, costs, and all other relief available under Alabama law.
COUNT EIGHTEEN
VIOLATION OF ALABAMA'S UCC
134.

AAL USA incorporates the preceding paragraphs.

135.

Though its actions described herein, ServisFirst violated Alabama's UCC,

including without limitation ALA. CODE §§ 7-3-307, 7-3-403, 7-3-404, 7-3-406, 7-3-418,
7-3-420, 7-4-101, et seq., and/or 7-4A-101, et seq.
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WHEREFORE, AAL USA demands judgment against ServisFirst, including an
award for damages, interest, costs, and all other relief available under Alabama law.
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AAL USA DEMANDS A TRIAL BY JURY ON ALL CLAIMS TRIABLE.
Dated: December 9, 2016
s/ Michael K. K. Choy
Michael K. K. Choy (CHO001)
Victor Hayslip (HAY019)
Kip A. Nesmith (NES007)
Benjamin Coulter (COU027)
Attorneys for Plaintiff
AAL USA, Inc.

OF COUNSEL:
BURR & FORMAN LLP
420 North 20th Street
Suite 3400
Birmingham, Alabama 35203
Telephone: (205) 251-3000
Facsimile: (205) 458-5100
mchoy@burr.com
vhayslip@burr.com
knesmith@burr.com
bcoulter@burr.com

PLEASE SERVE THE FOLLOWING DEFENDANTS BY CERTIFIED MAIL:
ServisFirst Bank c/o
Thomas A. Broughton, III
850 Shades Creek PKWY STE 200
Birmingham, AL 35209
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I do hereby certify on December 9, 2016, that a copy of the above and foregoing
has been served upon the following via electronic filing or U.S. Mail:
Electronic Filing
James H. Richardson
RICHARDSON MAPLES, P.C.
301 East Holmes Avenue, Suite 100
Huntsville, Alabama 35801
Roderic G. Steakley
Benjamin R. Little
SIROTE & PERMUTT, P.C.
305 Church Street, Suite 800
Huntsville, Alabama 35801
J. Rushton McClees
Joshua L. Hornady
SIROTE & PERMUTT, PC
2311 Highland Ave South
Post Office Box 55727
Birmingham, AL 35255-5727
U.S. Mail
IberiaBank Corporation c/o
CT Corporation System
2 No Jackson Ste 605
Montgomery, AL 36104
IberiaBank c/o
CT Corporation System
2 No Jackson Ste 605
Montgomery, AL 36104
s/ Michael K. K. Choy
OF COUNSEL
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ELECTRONICALLY FILED
12/9/2016 1:25 PM
01-CV-2016-904241.00
CIRCUIT COURT OF
JEFFERSON COUNTY, ALABAMA
ANNE-MARIE ADAMS, CLERK
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From: Paul Daigle [mailto:paul.daigle@aal-usa.com]
Sent: Monday, January 18, 2016 9:49 PM
To: Maria Gushchina; Anna Tyutyaeva; Mark Nagornyi; Olga Martyshchenko
Cc: Oleg Sirbu; Saul Kirsch
Subject: AAL USA Part 145 Certification

Team,
Please see attached our US FAA Part 145 Repair Station Certificate, certified as of 15 OCT 2015.
We had some issues with applying for the Repair Station as AAL USA, Inc. due to the previous occupant
of our hangar (DynCorp/SNC/Westwind) as well as our historical status as a US government contractor.
It’s a long story, but Oleg M is aware of the complications and has all of the details.
While “Black Hall Aerospace” is a wholly owned subsidiary of AAL USA, we are taking steps with the
Federal Aviation Administration to change the name on the document to “AAL USA” during our next
quality audit. Once that action is complete, I will send you guys an updated version of this certificate.
The name on the license does not impact any of our current work, but it will be extremely advantageous
for us here in HSV once it is changed to AAL USA for marketing purposes (so we don’t have to keep
explaining things to Customers – kind of like AAL USA is a franchise of AAL Group, etc.).
Let me know if you have any other questions for now.
Best,
Paul

Paul J Daigle

Chief Executive Officer
CPT, US Army (Ret)

Office: +1 256.971.1967 Ext. 2482
Mobile:+1 919.259.9903
Email:paul.daigle@aal-usa.com
The information and/or technical data contained or attached to this e-mail is confidential and/or proprietary. It may be subject to the
International Traffic in Arms Regulations (ITAR) or the Export Administration Regulations (EAR) and may require an approved export license
prior to its export. An export can include a release or disclosure to a foreign national inside or outside the United States whether verbal or
physical. This message is intended for use only to the individuals to whom it is addressed. Include this notice with any reproduced portion of
this information.
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